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IN THE UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF MARYLAND

IN RE SINCLAIR BROADCAST GROUP,  *
INC. SECURITIES LITIGATION * Civil No. CCB-18-2445

* * * * * * * * * * * * * *x % * * * * * * * * * * * *

MEMORANDUM

This is a class action secuetsi case brought by lead plafifst City of Atlanta Police
Pension Fund and the City oflanta Firefighters’ Pesion Fund (collectiely “Atlanta P&F”)
against Sinclair Broadcast Group, Inc., Christo@eRipley, Lucy A. Rutishauser, Steven M.
Marks, and David D. Smith (collectively “Sinctgi. On behalf of itself and all persons or
entities that acquired Singlaommon stock between February 22, 2017, and July 26, 2018,
Atlanta P&F alleged numerous violations of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the
“Exchange Act”), 15 U.S.C. § 784 seq. stemming from a failed mger between Sinclair and
Tribune Media (“Tribune”). (Am. Compl. T 1, ECF 45).

On February 4, 2020, the court dismissed alines based on 66 tfie 68 statements
alleged to have been matdiydalse or misleadig. (ECF 58, 59). Now pending is Atlanta P&F’s
motion for reconsideration or, in the alternatiteecertify dismissal as final and appealable
pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedur¢l§4(ECF 66). Atlanta P&F has also filed a
motion for leave to file a supplemental memaredum in furthergpport of the motion for
reconsideration. (ECF 71). Both motions are fully briefed, and no hearing is necessary.

For the reasons explained below, AtlantaFP&motion for leave to file a supplemental
memorandum will be granted, and the motion for reconsideration will be denied. As the court
lacks jurisdiction over the remairg claims in the case, the claimdl be dismissed, and Atlanta

P&F’s request for Rule 54(b) cerdation will be denied as moot.
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BACKGROUND
l.

The facts of this case are more fudgt out in the court’s February 4, 2020
Memorandum,gee2/4/20 Memo., ECF 58), and thewt will recitethe minimum facts
necessary to resoltbe pending motions.

On May 8, 2017, Sinclair, a large telecommunications congkeesinnounced its plan
to acquire Tribune, another l&gnedia company, for $3llion dollars (the*Merger”). (Am.
Comp. 1 3). As part of its mezgagreement with Tribune (thlerger Agreement”), Sinclair
agreed to divest its ownershiptelevision stations as necesstrybtain regulatory approval of
the Merger. Id. 1 27). Regulatory approval of the Mergequired compliance with the Federal
Communications Commission’s (“FCC”) Natior@ap (or “National Ownership”) Rule, the
FCC’s Duopoly Rule, and Departmentfstice (“DOJ”) antrust regulations.Id. § 26). In
public statements and filingsroughout the summaind fall of 2017, Sinclair repeated its
commitment to make station divistes as required by the Mergkgreement. But, according to
Tribune in its complaint filed &fr the Merger failed, “from viually the moment the Merger
Agreement was signed,” Sinclair svangaged in an effort to @l regulatory approval without
making station divestituredd( § 33; see also Tribune Compl. { 7, ECF 49-35).

On February 21, 2018, Sinclair announced a fativest stations in order to comply
with the National Cap Rule (the “Febru@&§18 Divestiture Plan”YAm. Compl. 11 46, 155).
The February 2018 Divestiture Plan included proposals to divest stations to entities with close
ties to the family of Siclair’'s founder (the “Smith faity”): Cunningham Broadcast Corporation
(“Cunningham”) andVGN-TV LLC. (Id. 1 47). According to Tribune, the FCC reacted

negatively to the February 2018 Divestiture Plah, {f 47—-48), and ultimately decided not to
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put the February 2018 DivestitureaRlout for public commentld. T 53).

On April 24, 2018, Sinclair announced another péadivest stations in order to obtain
regulatory approval of the Merg@he “April 2018 Divestiture RIn"). (Am. Compl. T 55). While
the proposed divestitures in thukan differed somewhat frorhdse proposed in the February
2018 Divestiture Plan, Sinclair still proposdigtesting certain statns to Cunningham and
WGN-TV LLC. (Id.). The FCC did, however, put the Ap2iD18 Divestiture Plan out for public
comment and began its formal revipvocess of the Merger on May 21, 2014. { 63).

The proposed divestituresew scrutiny from mediautlets and from outside
commenters who petitioned the FCC to deny appraividne Merger. (Am. Compl. 1 63—-64). In
response to a July 2, 20lpombergreport questioning the legitawgy of the divestitures,
Sinclair stated that its proposals compliethvitCC regulations, adding that “Cunningham is
operated completely septely from Sinclair.” (d.  65). On July 5, 2018, Sinclair filed with the
FCC an opposition to the petitions to deny, arguing that the propogstitures complied with
FCC regulations and noting thatif\§lair does not conttar hold any attribwable interest in
Cunningham.” d. T 66).

On July 16, 2018, FCC Chairman Ajit Pai issued a statement expressing “serious
concerns about the Sinclair/Tributransaction.” (Am. Compl. §7). News outlets also reported
that Chairman Pai was circulating a drafarlieg Designation Order (“HDQ?”) referring the
guestion of whether to approttee Merger to an FCC Admstrative Law Judge (“ALJ").I¢.).
On July 18, 2018, the FCC announced its finalglenito send the Merger to an ALJ hearing.
(Id. § 78). The next day, the FCC released the HD@;wdtated in part thdft]he record raises
significant questions as to whether [thegwsed divestitures ©unningham and WGN-TV

LLC] were in fact ‘'sham’ transactions.Id{ 11 79-80see alsdHDO, ECF 49-33). On August 9,
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2018, Tribune withdrew from the Merger and fie&21 billion breach of contract action against
Sinclair in the Delaware Chancery Court (the “Tribune Complaint}).f(93;see alsd&ECF 49-
35).

I.

Atlanta P&F’s class action complaialleged violations of §§ 10(band 20(& of the
Exchange Act based on 68 statements allegbd toaterially false and misleading. But in the
2/4/20 Memorandum and Order, the court dismissed all claims based on 66 of those statements.
The remaining clams are (1) the § 10(b) clairaiast corporate defendaBinclair arising from
its July 2, 2018, statement ti&@unningham is operated completalgparately from Sinclair”;

(2) the § 10(b) claim againstrpmrate defendant Sinclair anig from its July 5, 2018, statement
that it “does not control or holahy attributable interest i@unningham”; and (3) the § 20(a)
claims against Ripley, Rutishauser, Marks, Ban@&mith (the “Individual Defendants”) arising
from those two statements/420 Memao. at 39—40). Accardyly, the class period, which
initially spanned 17 months, wakortened to two weeks. (Mdbr Reconsideration at 3—4, ECF
66-1). Atlanta P&F states thit‘did not purchase shares $inclair common stock during the
approximately two-week Class Period that reredollowing the Court’s Order,” thus calling
into question its standing fursue the remaining claims$d(at 27-28). Further, Atlanta P&F
asserts that “no investor haswe forward who is able orilkng to prosecute the limited

remaining claims.” (Reconsid&ion Reply at 13, ECF 70).

! Section 10(b), codified a5 U.S.C. § 78j(b), “prohibits the use‘ahy manipulative odeceptive device or
contrivance’ in connection with the sale of a security in violation of SEC rifases v. Mun. Mortg. & Equity,

LLC, 744 F.3d 874, 884 (4th Cir. 2014). Atlanta P&F also alleged violations of Rule 10b-5, the Securities and
Exchange Commission (“SEC”) rule implementing 8 10¢bg17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5, but as “[t]he scope of Rule
10b-5 is coextensive with the coverage of § 10(B)E.C. v. Pirate Inv'r LLC580 F.3d 233, 237 n.1 (4th Cir. 2009)
(quotingS.E.C. v. Zandfordb35 U.S. 813, 816 n.1 (2002)), the court analyzed the claims together.

2 Section 20(a), codified at 15 U.S.&£78t(a), imposes liability for § 10(b) violations on “controlling persons”
within the meaning of the statute.
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Atlanta P&F seeks reconsideration o ttourt’s 2/4/20 Memorandum and Order,
arguing that (1) the court applied the incorrechdéad for pleading scienter with respect to the
claims based on Sinclair's May—August 2017 statements regasiditign divestitures; (2) the
court improperly discountetthe HDO in contravention @inger v. Reali883 F.3d 425 (4th Cir.
2018); and (3) the court’s finding that Atlanta P&&d adequately pled that two of Sinclair's

statements were materially false or misleadiogpel a finding that seral other statements

were false or misleading. In the alternative, Atlanta P&F asks the court to enter a final judgment

and certify the dismissed clairfe immediate appealnder Rule 54(b). 8clair opposes both
reconsideration and Rule 54(b) certification.

Atlanta P&F also filed aupplemental memorandum containing “powerful new evidence
that directly bears on Lead Ri&ifs’ motion for reconsideratiorand in particular this Court’s
decision that the HDO was merely a ‘suggestdf wrongdoing.” (Supp. Mot. at 2, ECF 71-1).
Sinclair opposes Atlanta P&F’s motion to files supplementanemorandum, and also argues
that Atlanta P&F’s proffered ‘&w evidence” is belied by everewerevidence that supports
Sinclair’s position that the motion for reconsiidtion should be derde(Supp. Mot. Opp’n at 1—
2, ECF 73).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Motions for reconsideration of an interlgory order are governed by Federal Rule of
Civil Procedure 54(b), under whi¢any order . . . may be revisedaty time before the entry of
a judgment adjudicating all the alas and all the parties’ rightsd liabilities.” Fed. R. Civ. P.
54(b). Accordingly, when appropriate district court retains the pewto reconsider and modify
its interlocutory judgrants at any time before final judgmeAtn. Canoe Ass’n v. Murphy

Farms, Inc, 326 F.3d 505, 514-15 (4th Cir. 2003). Resolution of the motion is “committed to
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the discretion of the district courid. at 515, and “the goal is teach the correct judgment
under law,”Lynn v. Monarch Recovery Mgmt., In853 F. Supp. 2d 612, 618 (D. Md. 2013)
(citation and quotation marks omitted). “In considgrwhether to revismterlocutory decisions,
district courts in this Circuit have lookéal whether movants prested new arguments or
evidence, or whether the cotids ‘obviously misapprehended atga position or the facts or
applicable law.”ld. at 619-20 (quotintynited States v. Duke Energy Cqrp18 F.R.D. 468,
474 (M.D.N.C. 2003) (furtheritations omitted)).

“Nevertheless, the discretioffarded by Rule 54(b) is notrtiitless . . . such discretion is
subject to the caveat that where litigants have once battl¢efopurt’s decision, they should
neither be required, nor without goaehson permitted, to tike for it again.”U.S. Tobacco
Coop. Inc. v. Big S. Wholesale of Virginid C, 899 F.3d 236, 256-57 (4th Cir. 2018) (citation
and quotation marks omitted). Aadingly, a motion for reonsideration isriot the proper place
to relitigate a case afténe court has ruled against a party, as mere disagreement with a court’s
rulings will not support granting such a requek¥hn,953 F. Supp. 2d at 620 (citation and
guotation marks omitted).

With respect to certification of the disssied claims for immediate appeal, Rule 54
provides:

When an action presents more than one clarmrelief . . . or when multiple parties

are involved, the court may direct entryaofinal judgment as to one or more, but

fewer than all, claims or piges only if the court expressly determines that there is

no just reason for delay.

Fed. R. Civ. P. 54(b).
DISCUSSION

. Leaveto file supplemental memorandum

The Court “has broad discretion to gréesdve to file sup@mental materialsPelino v.
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Ward Mfg, LLC, No. RDB-14-02771, 2015 WL 4528141 *atn.3 (D. Md. July 27, 2015).
Here, Atlanta P&F filed the sumahental memorandum in orderatert the court to new factual
developments that it argues bear on the omokdbr reconsideration. Sinclair responded on the
merits of Atlanta P&F’s supplemental motiand presented new evidence of its ov@edSupp.
Mot. Opp’n at 5-7). Mindful thathe goal on motions faeconsideration of interlocutory orders
is “to reach the correct judgment under lalwhn,953 F. Supp. 2d at 618 (citation and
guotation marks omitted), the wd will grant Atlanta P&F’s mtion for leave to file the
supplemental memorandum and witinsider the arguments theréin.

[I. Scienter standard

Atlanta P&F argues that thewrt applied the wrong scientstandard in dismissing a

group of claims in the 2/4/20 Merandum and Order. This groapclaims arose from several
of Sinclair's statements, rda between May 9, 2017, and August 22, 2017, either describing
Sinclair’s obligations under the Merger Agremmhor affirming Sinclair's commitment to
complying with those obligationsS€e2/4/20 Memo. at 11-13 (analyg statementset forth in
Am. Compl. 1 138-39, 141-50)). Atlanta P&F asgéss “[t]he court dismissed Defendants’
alleged false statements been May and August 2017 regardf@igclair's commitment to
make station divestitures to obtaiegulatory approval of the Tune merger based on its finding
that the Complaint’s allegations that Sinclairdaed a ‘secret intention’ to never comply was
‘no more plausible than’ the opposing inflece of nonfraudulent intent,” (Mot. for

Reconsideration at 6), and that “the Court fothrat these competing inferences were equal,”

3 Unpublished opinions agted for the soundness of their reasgnnot for any precedential value.

4In the supplemental memorandum, Atlanta P&F askefddomission to amend the complaint, but only “[i]n the
event that the Court decides not to grant their motiotefore to file this suppleméal memorandum[.]” (Supp.
Mot. at 4 n.2, ECF 71-1). As the court will grant thetion and consider the supplemental memorandum, this
request is denied as moot. In any event, amentimmould be futile. As explained in Part litfra, the new factual
developments presented in the supplemental memoraddurot provide a basis for reconsideration of certain
claims, and do not change the court’s conclusion that those claims were properly dismissed.
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(id. at 7-8 (emphasis in origit)). Atlanta P&F argues that this was clear error uieédabs
Inc. v. Makor Issues and Rights, Ltoh which the Supreme Courtldehat the allegations of a
complaint need only raise an inference of scietiat is “at least as likely as any plausible
opposing inference.” 551 U.S. 308, 328 (2007t Bilanta P&F’s argment fails for two
reasons: (1) Atlanta P&F misclaaterizes the court’'s conclosi by reading in isolation one
sentence of the court’s analysis of SintdaMay—August 2017 statements regarding station
divestitures; and (2) the allegations of kraended Complaint fail to meet the scienter
requirement prescribed rellabs

First, the court’s observation that “AtlarR&F’s explanation of Siclair’s action is no
more plausible than Sinclairxglanation that it was the compds longstanding belief . . . that
it did not need to sell any si@s to be in compliance,” was not the conclusion upon which the
court based its decision to dismike claims based on the statemextissue. By failing to read
this sentence in context with the resttwd court’s analysis of Sinclair's May—August 2017
statements regarding statiowvestitures, Atlanta P&F misundéasds why the court dismissed
the claims based on those statements. As the expidined regarding scieaart “[t]he failure to
carry out a promise made in connection with a gies transaction . . . does not constitute fraud
unless, when the promise was made, the defeseanetly intended not to perform or knew that
he could not perform.” (2/20 Memo. at 12 (quotiniflills v. Polar Molecular Corp 12 F.3d
1170, 1176 (2d Cir. 1993)). The court found twéh respect to the May—August 2017
statements,

Atlanta P&F does not allege sufficient facts to show that Sinclair or Ripley “secretly

intended” not to make station divestituegshe time these statements were made.

Atlanta P&F makes the conclusory allegatithat “Sinclair had no intention” of

making legitimate station divestitures, (Am. Compl. § 140), and broadly alleges

that “from the start of the DOJ’s rew of the merger in the summer of 2017,
Sinclair steadfastly refused divest the stations tH&@OJ required to be sold,id
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1 34). But Atlanta P&F’s firsspecificallegation that Sinclair “refused” to divest

arises from communications between AAG DelrdHiand Sinclair in September

2017, (d. 1 35); the additional lelgations stem fromanduct in late 2017 and 2018.

The court is not persuaded that Sinclastdsequent actions give rise to a “strong

inference” that the statements in Maysgist 2017 belied a secret intention not to

comply with Sinclair’s divestiture olgations under the Merger Agreement.
(Id. at 12-13 (emphasis iniginal)). In this sectin of the analysis, theoart identified the lack
of specific, contemporaneotactual allegations upon wdhn the court could drawanyinference,
let alone a strong one, that Saics May—August 2017 statementslied a secreintention not
to make station divestitures.vitas on this basis that the cofotind that Atlanta P&F had failed
to raise a “strong inference” of scienter, hased on a finding of equality between two
competing inferences.

The court acknowledges, hewer, that a citation tdellabsat the end of this analysis,
rather tharTwombly would have clarified # court’s conclusion. Bukellabsdoes not save
Atlanta P&F’s claims. Imellabs the Supreme Court held that “[tjo qualify as ‘strong’ . . . an
inference of scienter must be more than mepkysible or reasonable—#tust be cogent and at
least as compelling as any opposing inferenaeofraudulent intent.” 551 U.S. at 314. While
the inference of scienter must bértgg in light of other explanationdd. at 324, at a more
basic level, the inference must alsosb@ported by facts pléavith particularity,” id. at 323.
Atlanta P&F's allegations fail at this basic level.

Because the statements at es&either describe Sinclair@bligations under the Merger

Agreement or affirm Sinclairsommitment to complying witthose obligations,” (2/4/20

Memo. at 12), they do “nobastitute fraud unless, when themise was made, the defendant

5 According to the Amended Complaint, in the fall 612, Assistant Attorney General (“AAG”) Makan Delrahim
told Sinclair that divestitures in the ten DMAs specified in the Merger Agreement would facilitate a path to
regulatory approval. (Am. Compl. § 35). In response, according to Tribune, Sbetaime “confrontational” with
DOJ staff and AAG Delrahimld.).
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secretly intended not to performlanew that he could not performséeMills, 12 F.3d at 1176.
To establish the require@stemporaneous intent, Atlar&F relied principally on the
allegation in the Tribune Complaint that “[firovirtually the moment the Merger Agreement
was signed, Sinclair repeatediydawillfully breached its contragal obligations in spectacular
fashion.” SeeMot. for Reconsideration at 6 (quotiigbune Compl. { 7=CF 49-35); Opp’'n to
Mot. to Dismiss at 22, ECF 54 (same); Agompl. {1 140, 144, 146 (same)). The other
allegations regarding contempoesus intent were either cdasory (e.g., “Sinclair had no
intention to make station diggétures”) or based on conductlate 2017 and 2018 (e.g., the “sue
me” statement, allegedmade in January 2018)which the court deemed insufficiently
probative of contemporaneous inte(2/4/20 Memo. at 13 (citingowers v. British Vita, P.L.C
57 F.3d 176, 185 (2d Cir. 1995) (“[fent may be found when a deflant violates an agreement
so maliciously and so soon afterdtmade that his desire to do before he entered into the
agreement is evident.”))).

The allegations of the Tribune Complaingmh formed the only factual basis upon which
the required inference of scienter—that Sinclambbeed a “secret intention” not to comply with
the Merger Agreement when it made theyMaugust 2017 statements—could be built. This
factual basis was, and is, insufficienteet the pleading standard describedalabs While
Tribune alleged that Sinclair was in breacltaofitract “from virtually the moment the Merger
Agreement was signed,” Tribunespecificallegations regarding Sitadr’s alleged breach of
contract date no earlier than September 2&eTribune Compl. §f 61-63Moreover, as told

by the Tribune Complaint, beginning in Septem®@17, “Sinclair . . . continued to try, without

6 According to the Amended Complaint, on January P382Defendant Fader told AAG Delrahim to “sue [him]”
in response to AAG Delrahim’s offer to end its inigation and approve the Merger in exchange for certain
divestitures. (Am. Compl. { 43).

10
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success, to persuade DOJ tiigestitures in most of then Overlap DMAs should not be
required.” (d. T 63). All this suggests is that in thd & 2017, Sinclair's position was that its
obligations under the Merger Agreement did nquree significant divestitures. It does not
suggest that in May—August 2017, Sinclair harb@éslecret intention” nicto comply with the
Merger Agreement.

If the court was unclear in the 2/4/Rmorandum, it will clarify now: Even dny
inference of the required scienter coulddoawn from the above facts, it would be a
comparatively weak one. Such an inference requimputing to Sinclair ésecret intention,” in
May—August 2017, not to comply with its obligats under the Merger Agreement based on its
later position on thescopeof those obligations. Unddiellabs “[a] complaint will survive . . .
only if a reasonable person wowldem the inference of scientcogent and at least as
compelling as any opposing inference one coluv from the facts alleged.” 551 U.S. at 324.
Based on the allegations of the Amended Complaswell as the allegations of the Tribune
Complaint, themore compelling inferenagrawn from the factual lgations regarding the
May—August 2017 statements is that Sinclalidyed it could comply with the Merger
Agreement without making cemestation divestitures. écordingly, thecourt will not
reconsider its dismissal of theachs based on those statements.

[11.  Discounting of the HDO

Atlanta P&F suggests that the court’s dismiséalaims based on 8¢lair's statements
pertaining to the February and April 2018 Divestiture Planseifipally, the statements set
forth in §f 155-58, 172—-74, and 186—90 of the Améri@iemplaint—was due to the court’s
“discount[ing]” of the HDO. (Motfor Reconsideration at 12). As the court observed in the

2/4/20 Memorandum,

11
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[I]t is not entirely accurate for Atlanta F=&to claim that the FCC determined that
Sinclair's proposed divestitures werehdns.” Atlanta P&F repeats this claim
numerous times throughout the Amendedmptaint, despite the fact that the

HDO—the document upon which Atlanta P&relies most heavily for this

allegation—contains no such “determioati’ While the HDO stats that “[t]he

record raises significant questions as to whether those proposed divestitures were

in fact ‘sham’ transactions,” (HDO | Zje FCC did not decide the issue in the

HDO. Instead, the FCC referred timatter to arALJ. (HDO 1 29).

Relying on the Tribune Complaint, Atlarf&F also claims that “the FCC viewed

the divestitures [in the February 2018vBstiture Plan] assham(s].” (Tribune

Compl. T 106, Mot. Ex. 33, ECF 49-35)gain, this stretches the evidence.

According to the Tribune Complaint, the FCC staff merely held the opinion “that

the station sales couléadily be viewed as ‘sham’ transactiondd.) (emphasis

added). Atlanta P&F cmot turn the FCC’ssuggestionsthat the proposed
divestitures were “shams” intmnclusionghat they were.
(2/4/20 Memo. at 18 n.15 (emphasis in origipnahccording to Atlanta P&F, the court’s
observation amounted to a “discount[ihgf the HDO, in contravention &inger v. Rea)i883
F.3d 425 (4th Cir. 2018).

Singerinvolved a fraudulent reimbursemenheme by which a meckl device company
instructed surgeons, when submitting reinsemnent claims for a procedure using the
defendants’ medical device, muis-code the procedure to ensinsurance reimbursement. 883
F.3d at 430. As part of their seties fraud class aan complaint, the platiffs relied on the
complaint and settlement ingaii tam action, whichalleged in detail te fraud scheme,” but
ultimately resulted in a settlement where tiredical device company did not admit liabililgl.
at 434-35. The defendants argued that the plairgéfsurities fraud comigint did not properly
allege the illegality of theeimbursement scheme, “as no d¢aurother adjudicative body has
found the Company’s reimbursemegmactices to be illegall.]ld. at 441. The Fourth Circuit
rejected that argument, holding that “thaty to disclose may extend to uncharged and

unadjudicated illegal conduct,” atigat “even if the Complaint insufficiently describes how the

scheme contravenes the Falsai@bk Act and other statutesetjudicially noticed qui tam

12
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complaint fully explains the scheme’s alleged illegalitg.”(citation omitted).

The court’s observation about Atlanta P& characterization of the HDO does not
contravenesinger The court did not “discount” treubstancef the HDO, but rather took issue
with Atlanta P&F’s characterization of thatibstance. A plain reading of the Amended
Complaint alongside the HDO reveals that AdaR&F overstated the contents of the HDO.
Atlanta P&F repeatedly claimed throughout Araended Complaint thahe FCC “determined”
in the HDO that Sinclair’'s proposefivestitures were “shams,” wiidt did not. Indeed, the very
purpose of the HDO was to refeetmatter to an ALJ, who wadibe tasked with determining
whether the proposed diviates were “shams."SeeHDO { 29). Of course, the HDO'’s detailed
explanations of why the transactianayhave been “shams” cemdy support Atlanta P&F’s
allegation that thewereshams, and a finding that the HIMas irrelevant to Atlanta P&F’s
claims may well have contraven8thger But at no point in th&/4/20 Memorandum did the
court suggest that the HDO—which contaimaikdr information ashe Amended Complaint—
was irrelevant. The court simpigfused to give the HDO more weight than it was due.

In its supplemental memorandum, AtlaR&F further argues that a May 6, 2020, FCC
press release “further—and corgiltely—establishes that theoGrt’'s Order erred” in finding
that the HDO contained suggest# rather than conclusioraf, misconduct by Sinclair. (Supp.
Mot. at 1, ECF 71-1). In the preselease, the FCC announced thatas imposing on Sinclair a
$48 million civil penalty, the largégver paid by a broadcastéPress Release, ECF 71-1 at 9).
The penalty was part of an agreemertltse three open inviggations, including the
“investigation into theeompany’s disclosure of informat relating to its proposed acquisition
of stations owned by Tribune Mediald(). The press releasecinded a statement by FCC

Chairman Pai that “Sinclair's conduct duringatsempt to merge with Tribune was completely

13
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unacceptable.”lq.).

In its opposition to the supplental motion, however, Sinclgmoints out that the terms
of the FCC’s agreement with Sinclair—thedi@&ent Decree,” relead publicly on May 22,
2020—actually supports the cowrearlier decision not toeat the HDO as containing
“conclusions” that Sinclair's proposed divestés were “shams.” (Supp. Mot. Opp’n at 2). By
its terms, the Consent Decree “resolves the @msion’s investigationsf [] real party-in-
interest issues origingldesignated for hearinig Sinclair's proposedcquisition of stations
owned by Tribune Media Company,” .i.¢he issues raised in the HD@egConsent Decree,
ECF 73-2). The FCC stated as follows:

With respect to the realapty-in-interest issue inveing the proposed acquisition

of Tribune Media Company, the Commissiorse@ concerns that Sinclair did not
disclose all the information that coulddreon a potential real-party-in-interest
determination and that this could hawmstituted a violation of section 1.65 of the
Rules. Following theHDO, Sinclair filed additional information with the
Commission on July 31, 2018, and also filed on July 11, 2019 a response to a staff
letter of inquiry. In the July 2018 podesignation informadin filing, Sinclair
described in detail the transaction agreata and the specifimderstanding of the
parties regarding Fader’s responsibilities for oversight and control of WGN-TV. In
so doing, Sinclair provided informatiamot previously disclosed regarding the
relationship between Mr. Fader and Siircéand how the sales price of WGN-TV
was determined. Similarly, Sinclair disclosed additional and clarifying information
about its relationship with Cunningham. lléwing review of this subsequent
information, we find that Sinclair strugted its transaction based upon a good faith
interpretation of the Commission’s rules and precedent regarding sharing
agreements and the requirements forld@ae on the application form. Sinclair
thus believed it was unnecessary to ldise further information regarding the
relationships between Sinclaind both Fader and Cunningham.

(Id.) (emphasis added).

Two things are made clear by the Conseatiige: (1) at the timdne HDO was released,
the FCC had “concerns”™—but had not yet conctltgé¢hat Sinclair's proposed divestitures were
“shams”; and (2) at the conclusion ofiitsestigation, the FCC found that the proposed

divestitures were made good faith. The Consent Decrémis undercuts Atlanta P&F’s
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assertion that the court improperly “dismted” the HDO in the 2/4/20 Memorandum. The
FCC’s own characterization of the HDO waatth “raised concerns” meriting further
investigation, suggesting thatyainterpretation of the HDO dsoncluding” or “determining”

that the proposed divestituregre “shams” was, and is, incorrect. More damningly, unlike the
HDO, the Consent Decr@®escontain conclusions, including tke&C’s “find[ing] that Sinclair
structured its transaction based upon a good ifaténpretation of the Commission’s rules and
precedent[.]”’

Atlanta P&F argues that thewrt should not credit this finding of good faith because the
Consent Decree was not unanimous, accompaniéschyhing public dissents,” and is “directly
contradicted by the facts amdtitled to no weight.” (Supp. MoReply at 2—3, ECF 74). But
Atlanta P&F cannot have it both ways. Eithez #CC’s statementsgarding the proposed
divestitures are relevant to this case, or #i@ynot. Indeed, a larg®rtion of Atlanta P&F’s
motion for reconsideration is based oa tiotion that the aot did not giveenoughweight to the
FCC'’s prior “concerns” thahe proposed divestituresayhave been shams, and filed a
supplement to that motion based on a presaseldtlanta P&F believesupported its argument.
Now, when the FCC has clearly stated its findimat the proposed diggtures were made in
good faith, Atlanta P&F asks the court to igadinat finding. Atlanta P&F’s position is
untenable, and does not provide grounds fasnieicleration of the court’s prior decision to
dismiss certain claims in the Amended Complaint. Accordingly, the wdlurtot reconsider its
dismissal of the claims based on theestants set forth in 11 155-58, 172—74, and 186-90 of

the Amended Complaint.
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IV. Compeéled findings based on the Cunningham Statements

A. Additional statements

Atlanta P&F argues that tremurt’s upholding of claimbased on two statements
regarding Sinclair's proposed divestituredonningham compels a finding that several other
statements were false or misleading. In2E20 Memorandum, the court concluded that
Atlanta P&F had adequately alleged violations ef slecurities laws with respect to (1) Sinclair's
statement that “Cunningham is operated coiepleseparately from Sinclair,” (Am. Compl.
186), and (2) Sinclair’'s statemehat it “does not control or holany attributablenterest in
Cunningham,”id.  191) (the “Cunningham Statement8&cause of the court’s finding that
these statements were materidilise or misleading, Atlanta FRRargues that it was clear error
to dismiss claims based on the statementisétin the following portions of the Amended
Complaint: 11 155-158 and 172-74 (Feloyuand April 2018 statemenregarding divestiture
proposals); 166 (statement that Michael Andessas an “unrelated party”); and 163, 167, and
177-80 (statements regarding Sincsabelief that it was “clos” to regulatory approval).

The court’s conclusion on the Cunningham &tatnts does not comlpa finding that
these other statements were matly false or misleading. Key tthe court’s analysis of the
Cunningham Statements was thaythvere “statement[s] of facather than opinion.” (2/4/20
Memo. at 30, 36). By contrast, the staents set forth in 1Y 155-158 and 173-74 were
statements of opinion regarditite proposed divestitures’ cormgatice with FCC rules, and the
court found that Atlanta P&F had notet its burden ofhowing that Sinclair lacked a rational
belief in the veracity of thetatements when they were aea (2/4/20 Memo. at 16-17, 24-25);

the statement set forth inl¥2 was inactionable “puffery,(id. at 25-26); and the statements set

" “Puffery” is generally defined as “loosely optimistic staéets that are so vague, so lacking in specificity, or so
clearly constituting the opinions of the speaker, thaeasanable investor could find them important to the total
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forth in 1 163, 167, and 177-80 wetatements of Sinclair’'s bef regarding the expected
closing date of the Mergerd the court found that Atlanta FF8had not met its burden of
showing that Sinclair lacked a rational beliethie veracity of the statements when they were
made, i[d. at 18-20, 22—-24). While the statement tMathael Anderson was an “unrelated
party,” (Am. Compl. 1 166), is sb a statement of fact, following analysis of the “total mix of
information” available to asasonable investor when thatsiment was made, the court found
that it was not materially false amisleading. (2/40 Memo. at 20-21.

Much of Atlanta P&F’s argumetior reconsideration of the statements identified above
appears to stem from the mistéa belief that the court colucled, in the 2/4/20 Memorandum,
that Sinclair violated FCC ruge thus rendering all statemenggarding proposed divestitures to
Cunningham materially false or misleading§e€, e.gMot. for Reconsideration at 17 (“[I]t was
false and misleading for Sinclair to claim itgetiture to Cunningham was compliant when, as
the Court found, Sinclair knew it haig factocontrol over Cunninghatn violation of FCC
rules[.]”). But even if the court had determinbat Sinclair violated-CC rules—which it did
not—the claims based on the statements idedtdibove were dismissed for failure to allege
actionable misstatements or omissions under theisesdaws. The Private Securities Litigation
Reform Act (“PSLRA”"), codifiedat 15 U.S.C. § 78u-4, imposesirsgent pleading standards for

private plaintiffs allegingiolations of § 10(b)See Yates v. Mun. Mortg. & Equity, LLT24

mix of information available.See In re Cable & Wireless, PL821 F. Supp. 2d 749, 766—67 (E.D. Va. 2004)
(citing Hillson Partners Ltd. Partnership v. Adage, Ind2 F.3d 204, 213 (4th Cir. 1994)).

8 Sinclair asserted in the Motion to Dismiss that thaitkeof the transaction with Anderson—and details of
Anderson’s relationship to the Smith family—were in ploblic domain at the timef the “unrelated party”
statement.$ee2/4/20 Memo. at 21 n.18). Accordingly, Sinclaimgued, the existence of this information negated
any potentially misleading impression created from the reference to Anderson as an “unrelateddopris”the
court noted in the 2/4/20 Memorandum, Atlanta P&F did not respond to this arggichgnitlanta P&F attempts

to respond now,sgeMot. for Reconsideration at 189), but its argument amounts to a disagreement with the court
about whether the statement was material. A motiorefmnsideration, however, is “not the proper place to
relitigate a case after the court has ruled against a partyerasdisagreement with a court’s rulings will not support
granting such a request.ynn 953 F. Supp. 2d at 620 (citation and quotation marks omitted).
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F.3d 874, 885 (4th Cir. 2014). As explained ia #14/20 Memorandum, Atlanta P&F failed to
meet those standards. Accordinghe court will not reansider its dismissaif the claims based
on the statements identified above.

B. Claims against the Individual Defendants

Relatedly, Atlanta P&F argues that it was cleaor for the court to dismiss the claims
against the Individual Defendants arisingnfrthe Cunningham Statements. As the court
explained in the 2/4/20 Memorandu“[c]ourts in this Circuit have reasoned that ‘group
pleading,” whereby corporatefifers and directors are preseadito be responsible for a
company’s ‘group published’ infmation, is insufficient to s&sfy the PSLRA'’s scienter
requirement for individual defelants.” (2/4/20 Memo. at 8 {tig cases)). Acordingly, the
court found that even though the claims basethe Cunningham Statements would proceed
against corporate defendant Simgléhey would be dismissed #&sthe Individual Defendants.
(Id. at 32). Atlanta P&F argues, howevitrat the Fourth Circuit’'s holding iBingerrenders the
court’s findingclear error.

As explained abovesingerinvolved a fraudulent reimbsement scheme by which a
medical device company instructed surgeongmgubmitting reimbwement claims for a
procedure using the defendantsedical device, to mis-code tpeocedure to ensure insurance
reimbursement. 883 F.3d at 430. Inding that the plaintiffs haddequately alleged scienter
with respect to the individual goorate officer defendants, téngercourt noted that “the
Complaint is premised on the proposition that@ifcers directed th&audulent reimbursement
scheme,” which was “clearlylédgal, and fundamental to [tmeedical device company’s]
financial successId. at 444. Accordingly, “the Complaintteblishes that th©fficers’ failure

to disclose the scheme presented a dangeiskéading Singer and luér investors—a danger
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that was also known to the Officers, or so obvioas the Officers must va been aware of it.”
Id.

But Singeris distinguishable. There, the Fourthr@@it’s finding of liability as to the
individual defendants was based on their 6fatse and misleadingtatements about the
Company’s reimbursement prams that omitted the fraududt reimbursement schem&ihger
883 F.3d at 444. Here, by contrast, Atlanta P&F éis&sourt to hold the Individual Defendants
liable based on the Cunningham Statements, whesie “group published” information. Indeed,
any claims based on alleged misstatementsmissions by thindividual Defendants
themselves were dismissed fither reasons as explainedlive 2/4/20 Memorandum. As the
court previously concluded, theraup published” doctrine is insudfent to satisfy the PSLRA’s
scienter requirement for indohial defendants. As Atlanta P&F has provided no compelling
reason for the court to ahge its conclusion, the court willtn@consider its dismissal of the
claims against the Individual Defendaatssing from the Coningham Statements.

V. Entry of afinal judgment pursuant to Rule 54(b)

Having found unpersuasive Atlanta P&F’'gaments for reconsatation, the court
considers Atlanta P&F’s request for entry ofrafijudgment pursuant teederal Rule of Civil
Procedure 54(b) so it may immediately appesinissal of certain claims. In its argument for
54(b) certification, however, AtlaatP&F draws the court’s attentiéma jurisdictional issue that
may preempt a Rule 54(b) analysise court’s dismissal of mostatins in the case “resulted in
the elimination of all but 17 days out of the 502-day Class Perfbtht. for Reconsideration at
23). Lead plaintiff Atlanta P&F states that itidchot purchase shares of Sinclair common stock
during the approximately two-week Class Petivat remains following the Court’s Orderid(

at 27-28), and that “no investorsheome forward who is able willing to prosecte the limited
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remaining claims,” (ReconsideratidReply at 13). According tatlanta P&F, then, it does not
have standing to pursue this thea further and shoulde permitted to pute relief at the
appellate level.

The court is thus presented with the unusuahsion where the plaiifitis arguing that
the court is without jurisdiatin to hear its remaining claimshile the defendant is arguing
otherwise. In opposing Rule 54(@rtification, Sinclaircites to several casesere courts have
allowed the plaintiffs tadd additional namedaihtiffs to cure standig issues in securities
litigation. But those casese distinguishable. IMortimer v. Diplomat Pharmacy Incthe court
allowed the plaintiffs t@add additional named pi#iffs to cure standing issues in a securities
fraud case. No. 19 C 1735, 2019 WL 4934602, at *4 (NLDDct. 7, 2019) (citing cases). In
Mortimer, however, the lead plaintiffad standing to pursue at leasteof the claims
remaining in the cas&ee id (noting that the dispute was ather the lead plaintiff needed
standing foreveryclaim in the class action case). Anddity of Cape Coral Mun. Firefighters’
Ret. Plan v. Emergent Biosolutions, Ir), where the court found thawo lead plaintiffs could
remain in the case evémough they had not purchased &tdaring the class period, the court
expressly noted théthad not made “anfinal determinationswith respect to the actionability
of any alleged statements, and that the @as®d was subject to change. 322 F. Supp. 3d 676,
682 (D. Md. 2018) (also noting that one lead plaiméfained who was eligle to be appointed
class representative) (emphasis in original).

The court finds more persuasive the reasonirtdering v. Walgreens Boots All., Inn
which the court found that the lepthintiff lacked standing to pswe the remaining claims in a
securities fraud case (where a class had noteggi bertified) because he did not purchase stock

during the amended class period. 341 F. Supp. 3d 412, 414, 418 (M.D. Pa. 2018rimbe
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court found that even though the Igadintiff initially had standig, his loss of standing after the
dismissal of certain claims was incural@e,he was the only plaintiff in the catsk.at 419

(where “there is no viable claim for the onlapitiff in the case,” thre is “no ‘case’ or

‘controversy’ before the Court.”). Here, AtlarR&F is currently the only plaintiff in the case

and, by its own admission, is unaware of any parties that could prosecute the remaining claims.
The court thus agrees with AtlarR&F that it no longer has standing.

“Standing to sue is a doctdrrooted in the traditiohanderstanding of a case or
controversy. The doctrine developed in our cagettaensure that federal courts do not exceed
their authority as it has been traditionally understo8gdkeo, Inc. v. Robin$36 S. Ct. 1540,
1547 (2016) (citation omitted). Altlugh neither party has moved ftismissal of the remaining
claims, both sides have addresseadiisue, and “it is well settled that a federal court is obligated
to inquire into sulgct matter jurisdictiosuaspontewhenever it may be lackingUniv. of S.
Alabama v. Am. Tobacco Cd68 F.3d 405, 410 (11th Cir. 1999) (collecting cases).
Accordingly, the court will dismiss ¢hremaining claims in this action.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons explained above, AtldPgd's motion for reconsideration will be
denied. As Atlanta P&F no longer has standthg,remaining claims the case will be
dismissed, and Atlanta P&F’s request for Rulé3j4ertification will be denied as moot. A

separate order follows.

7/20/20 IS/

Date Giatherine C. Blake
United States District Judge
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